IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NO. SC. 06-1444

ADAM DAVIS, Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

PETER J. CANNON Fla. Bar. 0109710 Capital Collateral Regional Counsel Middle Region 3801 Corporex Park Drive Suite 210 Tampa, Florida 33619 (813)740-3544 Attorney for Appellant

Preliminary Statement

This appeal involves a lower court order denying postconviction relief under

Fl.R.Crim.P. 3.851. The following citations are utilized when referencing the record.

"ROA" refers to the original record on appeal.

"App" refers to the appendix for the original 3.851 filed in the lower court.

"TR" refers to the original transcript and order.

Statement of the Case

Adam Davis was indicted by the Grand Jury for the 13th Judicial Circuit, Hillsborough County Florida, on July 8, 1998, for one count of first-degree premeditated murder, Grand Theft and Grand Theft Auto. (R. - Vol. I, p. 51-55) Davis was tried by jury before the Honorable Cynthia Holloway in Hillsborough County, Florida and on November 4, 1999 the jury found Davis guilty as charged on all counts (ROA.- Vol. XIII, p. 1271). The jury reconvened for the penalty phase proceedings and on November 5, 1999 recommended by a vote of seven to five that Davis be sentenced to death as to count one. (ROA.- Vol XIV, pp.1387-1388). On December 10, 1999 the Court conducted a Spencer hearing. Davis was sentenced by the Court on December 17, 1999. The Court found the following aggravating circumstances: (1)The crime was committed while the defendant was on felony probation, (2)the crime was heinous, atrocious and cruel; and (3) that the crime was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification.

The Court found that the age of the defendant at the time the crime was committed as a statutory mitigating circumstance (little weight).

The Court considered the following non-statutory mitigators and accorded them some to little weight: (1) Davis was under ther influence of LSD at the time of the offense (some weight); (2) Davis had no prior convictions for assaultive behavior (some weight); (3) Davis had a deprived childhood and suffered hardships during his youth (some weight); and (4) Davis is a skilled writer and artist and can be expected to make a contribution to the prison community by sharing his knowledge, skills, and experience (some weight). After considering all aggravating and mitigating circumstances, the Court concluded that death, as recommended by the jury, was the appropriate sentence for the first degree murder of Ms. Vicki Robinson. Davis was sentenced to death (ROA. Vol. XV- pp. 1552-1560, *See: State v. Davis*, No. 98-11873 (Fla. 13th Cir. Ct. Order filed Dec. 17, 1999) (sentencing order).

On direct appeal Davis raised the following arguments: (1) the trial court erred by denying Davis⁵ motion to suppress statements that he made to the officers during his interview in Texas; (2) the trial court erred by denying Davis⁵ motions to strike venirepersons for cause; (3) the trial court erred by excluding the confession of codefendant Valessa Robinson; (4) the trial court erred by admitting an autopsy photograph of Ms. Robinson; (5) the trial court erred by refusing to specifically instruct the jury that the disprop9ortionate sentences received by Davis, Whispel, and Valessa Robinson may be considered as a mitigating factor; (6) the trial court erred by finding the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravating factor; (7) the trial court erred by finding the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravating factor; (7) the trial court erred by finding the cold, calculated, an premeditated aggravating factor; (8) imposing a death sentence grounded on a bare majority of the jury⁵ vote is unconstitutional= and (9) Florida⁵ death penalty scheme is unconstitutional. The Florida Supreme Court affirmed Davis=s convictions and sentences at *Davis v. State*,859 So. 2d. 465 (Fla. 2003).

On January 28th ,2005, Mr. Davis filed his Motion to Vacate his convictions and sentence pursuant to Fl.R.Crim.P. 3.851. The trial court conducted a bifurcated evidentiary hearing on February 8-9, 2005 and April 20-21, 2005. On June 21, 2005, the trial court denied all relief.

Statement of the Facts

Mr. Davis respectfully disagrees with the facts as established and accepted by this Court in *Davis v. State*, 859 So.2d 465 (Fla. 2003). Rather, the relevant evidence shows that on June 26th, 1998, Adam Davis, Jon Whispel and Valessa Robinson were three youths, childlike by nature and habit, addicted to drugs and alcohol. All three had ingested large amounts of LSD, marijuana and possibly cocaine and had damaged their sense of judgment - a sense of judgment that was not fully developed. Hatching a poorly planned, and poorly executed scheme to rid themselves of parental control, these three youths were anything but cold, calculated and premeditating murderers. Adam Davis, for his part, was anything but a leader, blindly following the dictates of a shrewd and impaired juvenile. After succumbing to an illegal coercive interrogation procedure described as **A**question-first[®], all three confessed to the murder of Valessa Robinson[±]s mother. Valessa Robinson, the first to be question, had no reason to fabricate her story when she admitted to law enforcement that she had wanted the

murder, had planned the murder, and committed the murder by stabbing her mother. Adam Davis, the last to be interrogated, heard that his girlfriend had just taken the blame for the murder. In an act that further sheds light on his lack of judgment, Adam Davis admitted to law enforcement that he was responsible for the murder. All three were indicted for murder.

The Constitution[±]s right to effective assistance of counsel was not applied to Adam Davis[±]s case as counsel failed to perform their most sacred duty at every critical juncture during the prosecution. Worse yet, the State would violate the rights of all three defendants when it would change its theory of prosecution from case to case in order to get a conviction rather than obtain justice. Finally, Adam Davis was totally abandoned by his counsel during the penalty phase of his trial when important information was never investigated and inaccurate information was presented to the court.

Summary of the Argument

In *Wiggins v. Smith*, 123 S.Ct. 2527 (2003), the United States Supreme Court reiterated the standard established by *Strickland* nearly 20 years ago. That standard today still requires courts to determine whether counsel was deficient in his or her representation and whether that representation prejudiced the defendant=s case. *See Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

Wiggins is not new law nor is it a new concept. Rather, *Wiggins* instructs this Court to look at the prevailing norms at the time of the trial to establish whether counsel was ineffective. At the time this case was tried, the prevailing norms for trying a capital case would have been reflected in the *ABA Guidelines for the Appointment and Performance of Counsel in Death Penalty Cases* (1989)(App.1-1).

Counsel for Mr. Davis were ineffective on several occasions. First, during the motion to suppress, it is clear that counsel was attempting to establish that Mr. Davis was still suffering from the effects of LSD at the time of his interrogation, was sleep deprived, was physically abused and was just barely nineteen years old at the time the officers questioned him using illegal interrogation tactics.

For example, counsel elicited various answers during the motion to suppress that supported counsel's theory that the interrogation methods used by law enforcement, specifically Detective Iverson, were the same ones found to be in violation of the Fifth Amendment by the United States Supreme Court. Counsel failed to put on any witnesses that would have created a causal connection between these factors and the coerciveness of the interrogation.

Second, it is clear that defense counsel did not adequately investigate or prepare a defense of voluntary intoxication. Florida law does hold that a reasonable strategic decision whether to utilize a defense of voluntary intoxication can preclude a finding of ineffectiveness of counsel. *See Patton v. State*, 878 So.2d 368 (Fla.2004); *Jones v.* *State*, 855 So.2d 611 (Fla. 2003); *Stewart v. State*, 801 So.2d 59, 65 (Fla.2001) (holding that counsel was not ineffective for failing to employ a voluntary intoxication defense where, at an evidentiary hearing, defense counsel testified that he considered an intoxication defense but determined that it was not a viable defense based on the facts of the case); *Kitchen v. State*, 764 So.2d 868, 869 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000) ("Counsel may make a tactical decision not to pursue a voluntary intoxication defense, but a trial court's finding that such a decision was tactical usually is inappropriate without an evidentiary hearing."). However, once counsel has made the decision to employ a voluntary intoxication defense, it is counsel-s duty to do so effectively.

Third, counsel was ineffective for not properly admitting the statement of the co-defendant. A clear reading of this Court=s opinion shows that the statement was excluded for not properly laying the necessary foundation in order to admit evidence under section 90.804(c). In order to admit Ms. Robinson=s statement, it was necessary for counsel to establish that Ms. Robinson was unavailable as a witness. The proper procedure to employ would be to subpoen the witness and have that witness invoke, in person, the privilege. Then, at that point, under 90.804(1)(a), **the trial court would have to make a ruling** as to the unavailability of the witness. *See Perry v. State*, 675 So.2d 976 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996). Had Ms. Robinson properly invoked her privilege, then the statement against interest would have been allowed to come in under 90.804(c).

Fourth, counsel failed to adequately investigate and present a wealth of mitigation. Counsel never fully interviewed the witnesses he planned to present during the penalty phase. He never spoke with his main expert about what areas he wanted to cover in his presentation. He never spoke to the lay witnesses he was going to present until they arrived in town just prior to their penalty phase testimony. Important information about Davis' past child abuse, development and drug addiction was never presented to the jury.

In addition, the rights of Mr. Davis were violated with the introduction of his admission to authorities, an admission that was inconsistent with the confession made by Valessa Robinson and the physical evidence. During the interrogation of all three defendant's, the police used a well established technique called "question first". Under this form of questioning, law enforcement interrogates a suspect without a prior explanation of their rights required by *Miranda*. Once a confession has been obtained, the suspect is then immediately read his Miranda rights and the same confession is then obtained and used in court. In *Missouri v. Seibert*, 124 S.Ct. 2601 (2004), however, the United States Supreme Court struck down this practice. In ruling for the petitioner, the Supreme Court noted that it was not announcing a new rule of law but, rather, it was identifying a practice that had always been disallowed under *Miranda* and its progeny.

Finally, as shown by the record, the State alternated between two different theories

of prosecution when it presented its cases against Valessa Robinson and Adam Davis.

Each had a separate trial and each were blamed separately for the killing of Mrs.

Robinson.

Standard of Review

The appropriate standard of review is discussed as it relates to the individual arguments.

Argument

ARGUMENT I

MR. DAVIS= COUNSEL PROVIDED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL WHEN HE FAILED TO INTRODUCE EXPERT TESTIMONY DURING THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH, FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND THE CORRESPONDING PROVISIONS OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

In Wiggins v. Smith, 123 S.Ct. 2527 (2003), the United States Supreme

Court reiterated the standard established by Strickland nearly 20 years ago. That

standard today still requires courts to determine whether counsel was deficient in his or

her representation and whether that representation prejudiced the defendant=s case.

See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). Justice O=Connor, in writing for

the majority in *Wiggins*, as she did in *Strickland*, cautions this Court about how far that deference should be extended.

When viewed in this light, the Astrategic decision@the state courts and respondents all invoke to justify counsel's limited pursuit of mitigating evidence resembles more a *post-hoc* rationalization of counsel's conduct than an accurate description of their deliberations prior to sentencing.

Wiggins, 123 S.Ct at2538.

Wiggins is not new law nor is it a new concept. Rather, Wiggins instructs this

Court to look at the prevailing norms at the time of the trial to establish whether

counsel was ineffective. At the time this case was tried, the prevailing norms for

trying a capital case would have been reflected in the ABA Guidelines for the

Appointment and Performance of Counsel in Death Penalty Cases (1989)(App.1-1).

Guideline 11.4.1 states, in pertinent part:

GUIDELINE 11.4.1 INVESTIGATION

- A. Counsel should conduct independent investigations relating to the guilt/innocence phase and to the penalty phase of a capital trial. Both investigations should begin immediately upon counsel's entry into the case and should be pursued expeditiously.
- B. The investigation for preparation of the guilt/innocence phase of the trial should be conducted regardless of any admission or statement by the client concerning facts constituting guilt.
- C. The investigation for preparation of the sentencing phase should be conducted regardless of any initial assertion by the client that mitigation is not to be offered. This investigation should comprise efforts to discover all reasonably available mitigating evidence and evidence to rebut any aggravating evidence that may be introduced by the prosecutor.
- D. Sources of investigative information may include the following:

1. Charging Documents:

Copies of all charging documents in the case should he obtained and examined in the context of the applicable statues and precedents, to identify (inter alia):

- A. The elements of the charged offense(s), including the element(s) alleged to make the death penalty applicable;
- B. The defenses, ordinary and affirmative, that may be available to the substantive charge and to the applicability of the death penalty;
- C. Any issues, constitutional or otherwise, (such as statutes of limitations or double jeopardy) which can be raised to attack the charging documents.
- 3. Potential Witnesses:

Counsel should consider interviewing potential witnesses, including:

- A. Eyewitnesses or other witnesses having purported knowledge of events surrounding the offense itself;
- B. Witnesses familiar with aspects of the client's life history that might affect the likelihood that the client committed the charged offense(s), possible mitigating reasons for the offense(s), and/or other mitigating evidence to show why the client should not be sentenced to death;
- C. Members of the victim's family opposed to having the client killed.

Counsel should attempt to conduct interviews of potential witnesses in the presence of a third person who will he available, if necessary, to testify as a defense witness at trial. Alternatively, counsel should have an investigator or mitigation specialist conduct the interviews.

7. Expert Assistance:

Counsel should secure the assistance of experts where it is necessary or appropriate for:

A. preparation of the defense;

- B. adequate understanding of the prosecution's case;
- C. rebuttal of any portion of the prosecution=s case at the guilt/innocence phase or the sentencing phase of the trial;

D. presentation of mitigation. Experts assisting in investigation and other preparation of the defense should be independent and their work product should be confidential to the extent allowed by law. Counsel and support staff should use all available avenues including signed releases, subpoenas, and Freedom of Information Acts, to obtain all necessary information.

ABA Guidelines for the Appointment and Performance of Counsel in Death Penalty Cases (1989)(emphasis added).

On several occasions during the motion to suppress, it is clear that counsel was attempting to establish that Mr. Davis was still suffering from the effects of LSD at the time of his interrogation, was sleep deprived, was physically abused and was just barely nineteen years old at the time the officers questioned him using illegal interrogation tactics.

For example, counsel elicited various answers during the motion to suppress that supported counsel's theory that the interrogation methods used by law enforcement, specifically Detective Iverson, were the same ones found to be in violation of the Fifth Amendment by the United States Supreme Court.¹ (App1-2, Pp. 12, 19-22). Further, counsel was able to elicit from Detective Iverson that all three

¹ See argument II

defendants had consumed acid prior to their arrest, some 12 hours prior to their interrogation. (App. 1-2, p. 17). Counsel further established that Mr. Davis appeared tired and was yawning during the interrogation, (App.1-2, p. 16), and that he had been beaten by the Texas authorities. (App.1-2, p. 18-19)

Counsel failed to put on any witnesses that would have created a causal connection between these factors and the coerciveness of the interrogation. One expert could have testified as to the effects of LSD and how ingesting LSD over long and sustained periods would have affected Mr. Davis at the time of the interrogation negating his ability to know and understand his rights and making his statements involuntary. Further, another defense witness would have been able to testify as to the general mental health of Mr. Davis and the ability of a young and mentally tortured individual to fully comprehend the basic rights to refuse to answer any questions.

The failure to utilize trial counsels expert during this most critical stage of the prosecution was further proof of deficient performance. Dr. Michael Gamache had testified during his deposition as to the amount of LSD ingested by Mr. Davis and to the effects of LSD on an individual. (App. 1-3, pp. 45-58) Mr. Davis was prejudiced by the admission of the statements because they established his guilt and the CCP and HAC aggravators. Mr. Daviss statements were specifically referenced by the trial court in its sentencing order. (ROA Vol. XV, pp. 1552-60). Further, testimony regarding Mr. Daviss susceptibility to coercive techniques would have been one

additional factor that could have been used by the Florida Supreme Court in its discussion of the suppression issue and the way it distinguished the instant case from the facts in *Ramirez v. State*, 739 So.2d 568 (Fla. 1999).

During the evidentiary hearing, the defense called Dr. Robert Smith to testify. Dr. Smith is a clinical psychologist with a sub-specialty in addictive disorders and works for a chemical dependency treatment program. (PC-R Vol14, p. 6) Dr. Smith conducted an evaluation of Mr. Davis to determine whether there were any psychological disorders or addictive disorders relevant to the present case. (Id.) Dr. Smith testified with a reasonable degree of psychological certainty that the LSD consumption by Mr. Davis significantly impaired his ability to knowingly waive his rights before making a statement. (PC-R Vol. 14, pp.10-11)

Dr. Smith testified about the effects LSD has on people. (Id. at 10-12). He also testified about the differences between LSD and other classes of drugs, such as sedatives, the most familiar being alcohol. (Id. at 12-13) Dr. Smith testified that individuals who ingest LSD, unlike sedatives and stimulants, are able to recall events in great detail. (Id. at 13) Thus, in formulating a defense in a criminal case, it is important to understand the three classes of drugs and their effects on a person's cognitive abilities. (Id. at 14)

Charles Traina, one of Mr. Davis' attorneys and the one who investigated the motion to suppress, was called by the defense to testify at the evidentiary hearing. He

testified that one of his arguments during the motion to suppress was based on the consumption of LSD by Mr. Davis. (PC-R Vol. 15, p. 91) He thought that all of the evidence concerning his ingestion of LSD was consistent. (Id. at 91) At no point for the motion to suppress did Mr. Traina retain an expert for the motion. (Id. at 96) The main reason why Mr. Traina did not hire an expert was because of Mr. Davis's ability to recall detail. (Id. at 101-04)

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