IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ADAM W. DAVIS,

Appellant,

V.

CASE NO. SC06-1444

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR
Senior Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar I.D. No. 0503843

Concourse Center #4 3507 Frontage Road, Suite 200

Tampa, Florida 33607 Phone: (813) 287-7910 Fax: (813) 281-5501

1dx (013) 201 3301

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

All of the claims presented in this appeal were litigated at the evidentiary hearing conducted below. As to each claim, the trial court outlined factual findings to explain the denial of the issue presented; all of the factual findings are supported by competent, substantial evidence. As no procedural or substantive error has been shown with regard to the factual findings entered or the application of the relevant legal principles by the lower court, no relief is warranted and this Court must affirm the order entered below denying postconviction relief.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DAVIS'S CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL PREMISED ON THE FAILURE TO PRESENT EXPERT TESTIMONY AT THE HEARING ON THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS DAVIS'S STATEMENTS.

Davis initially asserts that he was denied the effective assistance of counsel at his 1999 capital trial when his attorneys failed to present expert testimony at the hearing on the motion to suppress Davis's post-arrest statements. As this claim was denied following an evidentiary hearing, the trial court's factual findings are reviewed with deference and the legal conclusions are considered de novo. Stephens v. State, 748 So. 2d 1028, 1033 (Fla. 1999).

Prior to trial, Davis's attorneys litigated a motion to suppress Davis's post-arrest statements (V3/233-331; DA. V15/1446-1542). According to the motion, Davis's statements were inadmissible because his constitutional rights were violated when Hillsborough sheriff's detectives interviewed him after his arrest in Texas. After a hearing, the trial court denied the motion, finding that Davis was not suffering from any cognitive defect or sleep deprivation which interfered with his ability to understand and waive his constitutional rights (V3/329; DA. V15/1540). The issue was presented in the direct

appeal and this Court upheld the ruling. <u>Davis</u>, 859 So. 2d at 471-72.

In his postconviction motion, Davis contended that his trial had performed deficiently in litigating attorneys the suppression motion, because they failed to present an expert to testify that Davis's LSD use had negated Davis's ability to know and understand his rights, thus making his statements involuntary. Davis also asserted that expert testimony should have been presented to establish that, due to his general mental health and his being a "young and mentally tortured individual," Davis could not fully comprehend his rights.

The court below outlined the testimony presented on this issue, and thereafter denied this claim as follows:

The record supports the conclusion that Mr. Traina's performance in not calling an expert for Defendant's motion to suppress was not deficient, and decision reasonable under that the was circumstances. The experts' testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing fails to support the argument that Mr. Traina's decision to not have an expert for his motion to suppress was deficient. Dr. Smith testified that Defendant could have had perceptual distortions that could have affected his ability to understand Miranda warnings; however, he could not explain those distortions. Additionally, Dr. Smith deprivation could testified that sleep have significantly diminished Defendant's ability knowingly waive his rights; however, Dr. Smith admitted that he did not know how much sleep Defendant had had. Dr. Smith also testified that the effects of generally last for twelve hours, but enforcement interviewed Defendant approximately fifteen hours after his arrest. Unless Defendant

consumed LSD while in police custody, he would no longer have felt the effects of LSD when law enforcement interviewed him. Dr. Stevenson testified that Defendant was at the "mercy of his impulses and his emotions and unable to make a clear and conscious decision" and that he made his confession "so that he wouldn't be alone." However, the fear of being alone does not negate one's ability to comprehend and knowingly waive Miranda rights.

Additionally, the Court finds that even if Mr. Traina's performance was deficient, Defendant has failed to show that he was prejudiced. If Davis's confession had been suppressed, there is no reasonable probability that the results of Defendant's trial would have been different. See Wainwright v. State, 896 So. 2d 695, 700 (Fla. 2004) (finding that there no prejudice where there was no reasonable probability that the result would have been different due to evidence presented other than confession). At Defendant's trial, the State presented the testimony of codefendant, Jon Whispel, who was present during Vicki Robinson's murder. (See November 3, attached). transcript, V. 7, 834-941, pp. Additionally, Leanna Hayes, an inmate who transported back to Florida with Defendant after his arrest, testified at Defendant's trial that while they were being transported, he told her he had "'cut her up' meaning the lady he killed." (See November 4, 1999 transcript, V. 9, p. 1160, attached).

The Court finds Defendant has failed to show how counsel performed deficiently or how counsel's allegedly deficient performance affected the outcome of the proceedings. As such, Defendant is not entitled to relief as to Claim I.

(V7/1130-31). A review of the record demonstrates the propriety of this ruling.

Trial counsel Traina explored the circumstances of Davis's confession and litigated an argument for suppression based on the facts as outlined by his client (V15/T89-93; DA. V3/514-516, V15/1446-1540). Traina testified that his communications with

Davis did not give him any basis to believe that Davis had a diminished capacity to understand, and he reasonably felt from listening to the tape of the confession, that Davis's conduct, his interactions with the officers, being responsive, providing details regarding the offense, and failing to make any comments about. his condition. all undermined an argument (V15/T94,106). involuntariness In fact, Davis himself testified at the suppression hearing that he "had no problem understanding what was going on in there" when his rights were being explained to him (V3/313; DA. V15/1524). There has been no showing that Traina had any reason to suspect that Davis could not understand the Miranda rights, which Davis acknowledged and waived both orally and in writing (DA. V15/1467-72; V19/1736-North Carolina v. Butler, 441 U.S. 369, 373 (1979) 37). (express written waiver provides strong proof of validity).

Dr. Gamache, the retained defense mental health expert, had discussed the circumstances of Davis's confession with Davis, and Davis admitted to Gamache that he spoke with the police in order to protect his girlfriend, Valessa (V3/388). Traina was sure that either he or Terrana had explored this issue with Dr. Gamache (V15/T108-09). Davis had provided a detailed account of the facts to Gamache, and counsel was concerned that exposing Gamache to cross examination would provide the State with additional incriminating evidence (V15/T134-36). On these

facts, counsel's failure to present expert testimony which contradicted his client's sworn testimony was not unreasonable.

See [Mark] Davis v. State, 915 So. 2d 95, 123 (Fla. 2005) (no showing of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to file a motion to suppress statements where counsel testified, based on his assessment at the time, there were no issues worthy of a motion).

Davis offered no testimony at the hearing to establish that all reasonable attorneys litigating a motion to suppress statements faced with the facts of this case would present expert testimony to support the motion. In addition, the expert testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing fails to support a conclusion of deficient performance or any possible prejudice.

Dr. Smith initially testified that, in his opinion, Davis had consumed LSD prior to making his statement to the police, and that the drug "significantly impaired his ability to knowingly waive his rights before making a statement" (V14/T10). However, in explaining his opinion, Smith stated that he was not testifying that the LSD affected Davis's ability to waive his right to remain silent; rather, he stated only that the drug use was a factor that should be considered in determining whether Davis could voluntarily waive his rights (V14/T21). Curiously, Smith was not asked to provide a statement as to

whether Davis could or did voluntarily waive his Miranda rights in this case (V14/T65).

According to Smith, Davis had ingested the drug about twelve hours before speaking with law enforcement, and the effects of the drug typically lasted about twelve hours (V14/T18, 21). record, including Davis's testimony at the suppression hearing, supports the trial court's finding that it was actually about fifteen hours, outside the time frame Davis would still be under the influence according to Dr. Smith, who specialized in addictive disorders (V3/310, V14/T20; DA. V3/514-516; V15/1480, 1521). Davis, 859 So. 2d at 472 (noting Davis had been in custody approximately fifteen hours before meeting with detectives). Smith was also under the impression that Davis had been awake for twelve hours, tripping on LSD, and sleeping "for a brief period" before being awakened to speak with the officers (V14/T21-22, 41). However, at the suppression hearing, Davis testified that he had been sleeping the whole time he had been in his cell, from about 2:30 in the afternoon until Tampa detectives woke him up after 5:00 the following morning (V3/310; DA. V15/1521). In denying the motion to suppress, the trial court found that Davis was not sleep deprived (V3/329; DA. Thus, if anything, Smith's testimony would have V15/1540). diminished the weight of Davis's suppression hearing testimony about having ingested the drugs.

Smith's testimony was not constitutionally compelled; rather, the admonishment for consideration of the effects of Davis's LSD "trip" was unnecessary, as the lower court did in fact consider the drug use as one of several factors allegedly impacting the voluntariness of the confession (DA. V15/1535-40). Of course, Smith repeatedly acknowledged that the LSD use would not affect Davis's ability to plan or act purposefully (V14/T12, 23-24), but he characterized any subsequent behavior as impaired because it would be influenced by the perceptual distortions caused by the LSD. Given the LSD use, he considered Davis's decision to waive Miranda to be "impaired," notwithstanding his inability to identify any particular distortion which may have affected Davis's thinking or influenced Davis's ability to understand his rights (V14/T20-21, 35-36, 43). Dr. Smith's testimony does not suggest any error or impropriety in the prior conclusion that Davis understood and voluntarily waived his rights.

Although Davis also asserts that a mental health expert could testify about Davis's "general mental health," neither Dr. Smith nor Dr. Stevenson specifically addressed Davis's mental functioning as it related to this issue, and his appellate brief only discusses impairment due to the LSD use. Smith specialized in addictive disorders and focused primarily on Davis's LSD use; he conducted a psychological interview and tested Davis with

drug screening exams (V14/T6-8). He stated that he did not have sufficient information to assess any possible "mental illness," but noted that Davis's records demonstrate an average IQ and average cognitive functioning (V14/T32, 39). Stevenson diagnosed Davis with a developmental disorder, attention-deficit disorder, and stress disorder, but did not explain whether or how these deficiencies affected Davis's ability to understand or voluntarily or waive his rights (V17/T434-35).

No prejudice can be discerned because, even if the expert testimony presented below had been offered at the suppression hearing, it would not have provided a basis to grant the motion. order to prevent the State from admitting confession, the defense would have had to establish that Davis's desire to remain silent was overborne through police coercion. Colorado v. Connelly, 479 U.S. 157, 167 (1986). Dr. Smith testified that Davis's LSD use would not be apparent to the officers, and Dr. Stevenson testified that Davis's developmental disorder would be difficult for a lay person to recognize Thus, there is no suggestion that the (V14/T35, V17/T466).police were taking advantage of Davis's vulnerability, and no indication of the necessary police misconduct required for suppression under Connelly. As previously noted, Davis's own testimony at the suppression hearing refutes the suggestion that his prior drug use, or any combination of other factors,

rendered his confession involuntary. Specifically, Davis affirmed that he understood what was going on when his rights were being explained to him (V3/311, 313; DA. V15/1522, 1524). He described the LSD used shortly before his arrest as "paper acid," which is "more visual ... your mind is distorted a little bit, not much" (V3/316; DA. V15/1527). In addition, Davis had admitted to Dr. Gamache that Davis spoke to law enforcement in order to protect Valessa (V3/388). In light of these facts, the postconviction expert testimony on this point would not have compelled the suppression of Davis's statements.

Davis has not demonstrated that the failure to offer expert testimony at the suppression hearing was objectively unreasonable. In addition, he has not acknowledged or addressed the trial court's finding that the result of his trial would not have been different even if an expert had been presented at the suppression hearing. In this case, the State presented direct evidence from Jon Whispel, an eyewitness to many of the events relating to Vicki's murder, in addition to other direct and circumstantial evidence placing Davis at the crime scene and related areas, using Vicki's ATM card, and fleeing in her van Valessa and Whispel; Davis also made additional incriminating statements. See Wainwright v. State, 896 So. 2d 695, 700 (Fla. 2004) (no prejudice could be demonstrated for allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to litigate motion to suppress where evidence other than confession showed result of proceeding would not be different); Mansfield v. State, 758 So. 2d 636, 644-45 (Fla. 2000) (finding error in admitting confession harmless where it was "not the centerpiece of the State's case"). Therefore, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to offer expert testimony at the pretrial suppression hearing, and the denial of this claim must be upheld.

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DAVIS'S CLAIMS THAT HIS POST-ARREST STATEMENTS WERE INADMISSIBLE AND THAT THE PROSECUTOR KNOWINGLY PRESENTED FALSE TESTIMONY AT THE SUPPRESSION HEARING.

Davis's next issue also relates to the litigation of the motion to suppress his post-arrest statements. In this claim, Davis asserts that his statements were inadmissible under Missouri v. Seibert, 542 U.S. 600 (2004), and that the State violated Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150 (1972), and Napue v. Illinois, 360 U.S. 264 (1959), by knowingly presenting false testimony at the suppression hearing prior to trial. This claim was denied following an evidentiary hearing; the trial court's factual findings are reviewed with deference and the legal conclusions are considered de novo. Stephens, 748 So. 2d at 1033.

To the extent that Davis now challenges his statements as inadmissible under <u>Seibert</u>, this claim is procedurally barred. The admissibility of Davis's confession was challenged prior to trial and on appeal. The defense argued that Davis was not acting voluntarily when he waived his Miranda rights and confessed to killing Vicki Robinson; the trial court rejected that claim and this Court affirmed its ruling. <u>Davis</u>, 859 So. 2d at 471-72. Because this issue was denied on the merits at

trial and on appeal, it is now procedurally barred. Bryant v. State, 901 So. 2d 810, 821 (Fla. 2005). The voluntariness of a confession is an issue to be litigated at trial and on direct appeal; it is not subject to postconviction consideration. Johnson v. State, 903 So. 2d 888, 898 (Fla. 2005).

Davis claims, however, that the subsequently decided <u>Seibert</u> case requires reconsideration of this issue. According to Davis, <u>Seibert</u> establishes that Davis's confession was not voluntary but only provided in response to an illegal, "question-first" police technique designed to circumvent the restrictions on police interrogations mandated in <u>Miranda v.</u> Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

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